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FLORIDA OFFICE: 

PO Box 540774 
Orlando, FL 32854 
Tel 407-875-1776 
Fax 407-875-0770 
www.LC.org 
 

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA OFFICE: 

122 C Street NW, Ste 360 
Washington, DC 20001 

Tel 202-289-1776 
Fax 407-875-0770 

 
REPLY TO FLORIDA 

VIRGINIA OFFICE: 

PO Box 11108 
Lynchburg, VA 24506 

Tel 407-875-1776 
Fax 407-875-0770 

Liberty@LC.org 
 

 

May 7, 2020 

 

Via E-Mail and Facsimile - (217) 524-4049 

The Honorable Jay Robert “J.B.” Pritzker 

Office of the Governor 

207 State House 

Springfield, IL 62706 

Email via Lt. Gov. Juliana Stratton: LtGovStratton@illinois.gov      

 

RE: Church Meeting Ban Enforcement  

 

Dear Governor Pritzker: 

 

Liberty Counsel is a national non-profit litigation, education, and public policy organization 

with an emphasis on First Amendment liberties. Liberty Counsel represents numerous Illinois pastors 

and churches which desire to meet, while practicing social distancing guidelines and sanitary measures 

recommended by the Centers for Disease Control (“CDC”), with more than 10 people in attendance.  

 

I am requesting written confirmation by 3:00 PM TODAY, May 7, 2020, that the 

“gathering orders” detailed below prohibiting churches from meetings of more than 10 people 

have been rescinded. If I do not receive this response, Liberty Counsel will take additional action 

on behalf of the pastors and churches. 

 

Illinois officials are unconstitutionally enforcing and applying the various COVID-19 

Executive Orders and other enforcement directives (collectively “GATHERING ORDERS”) 

purporting to prohibit our clients, on pain of criminal sanctions, from gathering for worship services at 

our clients’ churches, regardless of whether they meet or exceed the social distancing and hygiene 

guidelines pursuant to which the State disparately and discriminatorily allows so-called “essential” 

commercial and non-religious entities (e.g., liquor stores, cannabis stores, warehouse clubs, ‘big box’ 

and ‘supercenter’ stores) to accommodate gatherings of more than 10 people without scrutiny or threat 

of criminal sanctions.  

 

The GATHERING ORDERS have been interpreted, applied, and enforced against our clients, 

as the Illinois State Police have threatened to impose criminal sanctions against religious gatherings 

that include more than 10 people, regardless of whether government-recommended social distancing 

and hygiene recommendations are practiced.  
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At around the same time as Governor Pritzker’s Executive Orders surrounding COVID-19 

were being used to threaten criminal sanctions on our client pastors and churches, and their 

members/attendees, officials in other jurisdictions had similarly threatened to impose criminal 

sanctions on other religious gatherings.  

 

In Louisville, Kentucky, for example, the government threatened to use police to impose 

criminal sanctions on those individuals found in violation of similar COVID-19 orders. The United 

States District Court for the Western District of Kentucky found that the mere threat of such criminal 

sanctions warranted a TRO. See On Fire Christian Ctr., Inc. v. Fischer, No. 3:20-cv-264-JRW, 2020 

WL 1820249 (W.D. Ky. Apr. 11, 2020) [hereinafter On Fire]. The On Fire TRO enjoined the Mayor 

of Louisville from “enforcing, attempting to enforce, threatening to enforce, or otherwise 

requiring compliance with any prohibition on drive-in church services at On Fire.” Id. at *1 

(emphasis added).  

 

Additionally, the Governor of Kansas had imposed a virtually identical restriction on religious 

gatherings in Kansas, stating that “gatherings” of more than 10 individuals are prohibited, including 

religious gatherings. On April 18, 2020, the United States District for the District of Kansas issued a 

TRO enjoining Kansas officials from enforcing its discriminatory prohibition on religious gatherings 

and required the government to treat “religious” gatherings (worship services) the same as other similar 

gatherings that are permitted. See First Baptist Church. v. Kelly, No. 20-1102-JWB, 2020 WL 

1910021, *6–7 (D. Kan. Apr. 18, 2020) [hereinafter First Baptist].  

 

The First Baptist TRO specifically stated that the government’s disparate treatment of religious 

gatherings was a violation of the Free Exercise Clause because it showed that “religious activities 

were specifically targeted for more onerous restrictions than comparable secular activities,” and 

that the churches had shown irreparable harm because they would “be prevented from gathering for 

worship at their churches” during the pendency of the executive order. Id. at *7–8 (emphasis added). 

In discussing the Kansas orders—which imposed a 10-person limit on in-person gatherings just as 

Governor Pritzker orders here—the court said that specifically singling out religious gatherings for 

disparate treatment while permitting other non-religious activities “show[s] that these executive orders 

expressly target religious gatherings on a broad scale and are, therefore, not facially neutral,” First 

Baptist, 2020 WL 1910021, at *7. Much like here, “churches and religious activities appear to have 

been singled out among essential functions for stricter treatment. It appears to be the only essential 

function whose core purpose—association for the purpose of worship—had been basically 

eliminated.” Id. (emphasis added). Thus, the court found that Kansas should be enjoined from 

enforcing their disparate terms against churches. 

 

Additionally, the Sixth Circuit Court of Appeals has issued an Emergency Injunction Pending 

Appeal prohibiting the Governor from enforcing similar prohibitions on religious worship services. 

See Maryville Baptist Church, Inc. v. Beshear, -- F.3d --, No. 20-5427, 2020 WL 2111316 (6th Cir. 

May 2, 2020). In that appeal, challenging orders similar to Governor Pritzker’s orders here, the Sixth 

Circuit held that “[t]he Governor’s actions substantially burden the congregants’ sincerely held 

religious practices—and plainly so. . . . Orders prohibiting religious gatherings, enforced by police 

officers telling congregants they violated a criminal law and by officers taking down license plate 

numbers, amount to a significant burden on worship gatherings.” 2020 WL 2111316, at *2 

(emphasis added). Additionally, “[t]he way the orders treat comparable religious and non-religious 

activities suggests that they do not amount to the least restrictive way of regulating the churches.” Id. 

“Outright bans on religious activity alone obviously count. So do general bans that cover religious 
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activity when there are exceptions for comparable secular activities.” Id., at *3. In discussing the 

prohibitions on religious gatherings, the Sixth Circuit posed several questions of equal import here:  

 

Assuming all of the same precautions are taken, why is it safe to wait in a car for a 

liquor store to open but dangerous to wait in a car to hear morning prayers? Why can 

someone safely walk down a grocery store aisle but not a pew? And why can 

someone safely interact with a brave deliverywoman but not with a stoic minister? The 

Commonwealth has no good answers. While the law may take periodic naps 

during a pandemic, we will not let it sleep through one. 

 

Id., at *4 (emphasis added). 

 

Here, Governor Pritzker’s prohibition on religious gatherings substantially burden our clients’ 

sincerely held religious beliefs, and are not the least restrictive means. The orders are depriving our 

clients and other similarly situated Illinois citizens of rights secured by the United States Constitution, 

including the First and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution, in violation of 42 

U.S.C. § 1983. 

 

In times of national crisis, such as the current uncertainty arising from COVID-19, “the fog of 

public excitement obscures the ancient landmarks set up in our Bill of Rights.” American Communist 

Ass’n, C.I.O. v. Douds, 339 U.S. 382, 453 (1950) (Black, J., dissenting). But, where the fog of public 

excitement is at its apex, “the more imperative is the need to preserve inviolate the constitutional rights 

of free speech, free press and free assembly.” De Jonge v. Oregon, 299 U.S. 353, 365 (1937). Without 

doubt, “[t]herein lies the security of the Republic, the very foundation of constitutional government.” 

Id.  

 

For these reasons, demand is hereby made for a written response by 3:00 P.M. TODAY 

on May 7, 2020, with confirmation that the ban embodied in the COVID-19 Executive Orders 

prohibiting religious gatherings of more than 10 people has been rescinded.   
 

If I do not receive these respective confirmations by the time requested, Liberty Counsel will 

take additional action to prevent irreparable harm to the rights of our clients.  

 

Thank you for your attention to this matter. 

.  

    Sincerely, 

 

 

 

 

    Richard L. Mast† 

CC: 

Via Email: 

Ann Spillane       aspillane@gc.state.il.us 

General Counsel, Office of the Governor 

 

Kwame Raoul, Attorney General    kraoul@atg.state.il.us 

                                                 
† Licensed in Virginia 
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